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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

GLEN ELLYN PHARMACY, INC.,
on behalf of plaintiff and
the class members defined herein,

Plaintiff,

No. 1:20CV 02177
Hon. Marvin EAspen

V.

AKRON GENERICS, LLC
and JOHN DOES-10,

— N N N N N N N

Defendants. )
MEMORANDUM OPINION & ORDER
MARVIN E. ASPEN, District Judge:

Plaintiff Glen Ellyn Pharmacy, In€:Glen Ellyn”) alleges, on behalf of itself and a
putative classhatDefendantAkron Generics, LLQ*Akron”) and unknown “John Doedaxed
them unsolicited advertisements in violation of the Telephone Consumect®roct,
47U.S.C.8 227, the lllinois Consumer Fraud Act 815 ILCS 5088w York General Business
Law 8§8396-aa, and the common laartsof conversion and trespass to chatt¢farst Amended
Complaint (“FAC”) (Dkt. No. 19) 1 1.)

Presently before us Akron’s Rule 12(b)(1) and (6notion to dismis$slen Ellyn’s
FAC. (Motion to Dismiss (“MTD”) (Dkt. No. 20) at 1.Jor the reasons set forth belowe
grant Akron’s motion in part and deny it in part.

BACKGROUND

The following facts are taken from Plain§ffFAC and are deemed betrue for the

purposes of this motionSeeBell v. City of Chi, 835 F.3d 736, 738 (7th Cir. 2016§e also

Tamayo v. Blagojeviclb26 F.3d 1074, 1081 (7th Cir. 2008).
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Glen Ellyn is an lllinois corporation with offices in Glen Ellyn, lllinois. (FAG.Y
Akron is a New York corporation with principal offices located at 47 Mall DiStete 1,
Commack, New York 11725.1d; § 4) Akron’s registered agent iEhe Limited Liability
Company, located at 11901 Jamaica Ave., Richmond Hill, New York 114d.8. (

On February 13, 2020, Glen Ellyaceived ane-page, unsolicited fax, providing certain
contact information for Akron and announcing the availability of, and pricing for, certain
products marketed by Akronld(  9) The fax at issue wattached to Glen Ellyn’'s FAC and

is copied below

Fram: Almon Gesarics Faoi: J53EI850704 T Fax: (B350} 469.45% Page: 1211 23T N2020 390 PW

AC Rx 47 MALLDR. UNIT1 &2

Akru COMMACK, MY 11725
!henerﬁ_cs Phone: 1-531-263-5528 Email: ben@iakrongenerics. com
Fax: 1-631-386-8708, NY Reg No.: 035617 Sales Rep: BEM

DAILY SPECIALS

PHARMALY NAME:

n;_qcm?rlnu__ SIZE PRICE OTY DESCRIPTION SIZE FRICE aTy
AMOXICILLINACLAY 0 51,78 MAIFPRAZOLE 15 MG n 3099
SOOMGILES MG TAE
ARIPIFRAZOLE 20 MG TAR 0CT £0.99 - ARIFMPRAZOLE 20 MG TAE | 20CT $0.99
CLINDAMYCIN PHOSPHATE | 60 ML 56.99 CYANOCOBALAMIN Z5K1 ML {$45.99
1% SOLUTION 1000MCGML INJECTION
CIGCON D.25 MO ion $6.99 DILTIAZEM 120 MG TABLET |100CT $16.92
DILTIAZEM S0 MG TABLET 100CT 5131490 DILTIAZEM OO 18D MG 8OCT $12.49

CAPSULE

CALTIAZEM CDr 240 MG 20CT S1E9D DIVALPROEN SOOIUM ER, 300 L7555
CAPEULE 500 MG
ESOMEPRAZOLE 40 MG 0T £3.99 ESCMEPRAZOLE Mal 40 ] 5$9.99
CAPS 30 4G DA CAFS 30
SABAPENTIH 100 M& CAPS (S0OCT 55,93 GABAPENTIN S00 MG CAP 500CT £25.9%
GABAPENTIN 200 MG CAP SOOCT $3190 GLIMEPIRIDE 2 MG 500 $11.59
GLMEFRIDE 4 MG TAES S00CT £15.99 GLIPZIDE 10 MG 1000 £19.00
HALOPERIDOL 20 MG 100 §9090 KETOCOMATOLE CREAM 2% | E0GM $1E99
LEVSTHYROMME 12% MOS [ 100CT &7 49 LEVOTHYRAOMME 25 MCG | 100CT £7.00
TAB TABE
LICOCAIME 5% TOPICAL woeT s4993 LIDOCAINE/FRILOCAME £l $0.99
FATCH 2,52.5 % CREAM
METROMIDAZOLE 0.75% 7008 $£3192 OLMESARTAM MED TAB 20 |30CT £3.99
WAG. GEL MG 30CT
CEELTAMIIE PHOSPHATE | 10CT $6.42 SOLIFEMACTY SUCC 1OMG |30CT $3.99
CAPS 75 MIG 10T TAB

IF ¥OU WOLILD LIKE TO STCR RECENING OUR Fax PLEASE FILL OUT THE FOLLOWING AND FaX BACK TO 631-386-8708. THANK YOU,

PHARMALCY NAME: FAX NUMBER:
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(FAC Ex. A)) “On information and belief” Glen Ellyn asserts that Akron “sent or caused [the
fax] to be sent from New York.”lq. | 9)

Beforereceiving this fax, Glen Ellyn had no relationship with Akron, and Glen Ellyn had
not authorized Akron to send Glen Ellfax advertisements.ld. T 15.) Nor didhe fax contain
a proper “opt out” notice.ld. 1 17)

Glen Ellynbelieves that the fax that it received was one of many unsolicited
advertisements that Akron seatindividuals in Illinois. [d. § 18) Glen Ellyn alleges that it
and other putative class members “suffered damages as a result of receipt of thiéeghnsoli
faxes, in the form of paper and ink or toner consumed as a resdltff 23) Additionally, Glen
Ellyn claims that its'statutory right of privacy was invaded.d()

LEGAL STANDARD
A. Motion to Dismissfor Lack of Standing

Akron argwesthat we should dismiss Glen Ellyn’s suit for lack of standinder Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1YMTD at 11-15.) The party who invokes federal jurisdiction
bears the burden of demonstrating standingjan v. Defenders of Wdlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561
(1992) seealsoAtlas v. Village of GlencoéNo. 19 C 3962, 2019 WL 6117579, at *2 (N.D. Il
Nov. 18, 2019).

Akron’s challenge is a facial ondn other wordseven if the allegations in Glen Ellyn’s
FAC are taken as true, they wouldlstot establish standingApex Digital, Inc. v. Sears,
Roebuck & Cq.572 F.3d 440,443-44vCir. 2009). “Facial challenges require only that the
Court look to the [operative complaint] to see if Plaintiff has sufficiently allegeasis of

subject matter jurisdiction.’Glen Ellyn Pharmacy, Ina.. Kloudscript, Inc.Case No. 19 CV
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2829, 2019 WL 6467319, at *1 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 2, 2019). Allegations in the operative complaint
are takeras true when deciding motions of this type.
B. Motion to Dismissfor Failureto Statea Claim

Akron’s remaining challengdse Glen Ellyn’s FACfall under Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(b)(6)(MTD at 6-11.) A motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(b)(6) is meant to test the sufficiency of the complaint, not to decide the meriscafsth
McReynolds v. Merrill Lync& Co., 694 F.3d 873, 878 (7th Cir. 2018ibson v. City of Chj.
910 F.2d 1510, 1520 (7tir. 1990). In evaluating a motion to dismiss, colgtsstrue the
complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, accepting as true alplesided facts
alleged, and drawing all possible inferences in her favbarhayg 526 F.3d at 1081. Courts
may grant motiosto dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6hly if acomplaint lack sufficientfacts “to
‘state a clainto relief that is plausible on its facé. Ashcroft v. Igbhal556U.S. 662, 678,
129S.Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009) (quotirBell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570, 125.Ct.
1955, 1974 (2007)). “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleadsdhcbntent
that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is litide fo
misconduct alleged.’Igbal, 556U.S.at678, 1295. Ct. at 1949. Although a facially plausible
complaint need not give “detailed factual allegations,” it must allege fatisent “to raise a
right to relief above the speculative levelivombly 550U.S.at 555, 127S. Ct. at 1964-65.
“Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere c¢pncluso
statements, do not sufficelgbal, 556U.S.at 678, 129S. Ct. at 1949. These requirements
ensure that the defendant receives “fair notice of what the . . . claiml idhe grounds upon

which it rests.” Twombly 550U.S.at 555, 127S. Ct. at 1964.
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ANALYSIS
l. TCPA and Standing

Akron argues that Glen Ellygannot maintain its TCPA claitvecause Glen Ellyn lacks
the requisite standing. (MTD at 11-157)o establish standing, a plaintiff must allege an injury
in fact that is traceable to the defendant’s conduct and redressable by a fgudieialle
decision.” Kloudscript 2019 WL 6467319, at *g&iting Lujan, 504 U.Sat560—-61). These
requirements stem from Article Il of the Constitution, which restricts federal cauttsority to
the resolution of Cases” or‘Controversies.” Casillas v. Madison Ave. Assocs., |r826 F.3d
329, 333 (7th Cir. 2019).

According to Akron, Glen Ellyannot satisfyhe “injury in fact”element othe
standing analysibecause Glen Ellyn “has no actual or concrete idjufMTD at 11+12) In
response, Glen Ellyn asserts thdtasalleged that it suffered actual harm as a result of Akron’s
conduct—specifically, that it was deprived of the paper, ink, and toner used to knomt Afax,
and Akron invaded its statutory right of privacy. (Plaintiff's Response (“OppKj. (. 23)at
2.) Glen Ellyn is correct.

An “injury in fact” is “an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (acoete and
particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypotheticaldn, 504 U.S. at
560 (internal citations and quotations omittedjticle Il standing “requires a concrete injury
even in the context of a statutory violatiorSpokeo, Inc. v. Robin$36 S.Ct. 1540, 1549
(2016).

On this issue, a recent Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals decision cortr@saftwood
I, Inc. v. Generac Power Sys., In820 F.3d 479 (7th Cir. 2019), Plaintiffs alleged that they had

been harmed by unwanted faxes because printing the faxes used paper and toner, and their
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employees’ attention was diverted from profitadtdivities to reading the faxesd. at481. The
Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals concluded that even though the alleged haaynisdve been
slight,” they were concrete injuries causedliiy defendant’s conduct that could be redressed by
an award of damages$d. The Seventh Circuit further obseryé@e have resolved dozens of
fax-ad suits on the merits without suspecting that we were violating Article 11l of the
Constitution. This suit ino more constitutionally suspect than theid”

Such a result is also consistent with the approach taken by other courts visthin th
district InKloudscript, supraanother court concluded that plaintiff hadicle Il standing to
pursue a TCPA claim where plaintifadalleged that defendant’s “unsolicited faxes deprived |[it]
of its ink, toner, the user of its fax machine, and the time it spent identifyirsptinee and
purpose of the fax.’Kloudscript 2019 WL 6467319, at *2. The court found that “the cost of
printing the faxes and the diversion of employee time necessary to readehaifaxoncrete
losses.”Id.

The instant case is analogous to those descabede. Similar tothosecasesGlen
Ellyn alleges that, as a result of receiving an unsolicited fax from Akron, ile@s/ed of
paper, ink, and toner, and it suffered an invasion of its statutory right of prigg&¢ 1 23.)
These are concrete injuries that can be remedied with ad afvdamagesCraftwood Il 920
F.3d at 481. Accordingly, Akron’s standing argument fails, Akrn’s motion to dismisss
deniedwith regard to Glen Ellyn’s TCPA claim.

. Trespassto Chattels

“Trespass to chattels involves an injury to or interference with possessiersohal

property, with or without physical force Kloudscript 2019 WL 6467319, at *@nternal

citations omitted) Trespass to chattels can occur in one of two ways: tintelly (a)
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dispossessing another of the chattel, or (b) using or intermeddling withel ah#te posession
of another.” Id. (internal citations omitted).

Akron contends that Glen Ellyn cannot maintaiolaim fortrespass to chattels because
taking the facts alleged in Glen EllyrF\C as true: (1) there has bel@tie or no damage to
Glen Ellyn’s property, and (2) Glen Ellyn was not deprived of its property for a stibstan
amount of time (MTD at 6-7.)

Glen Ellyn countershat the doctrinef de minimis non curat lexr the doctrinethat the
law does not concern itself with trifledoes not apply where a defendant has intentionally
infringed upon a plaintiff's property rights. (Opp. at 7.)

Akron has the better argumenthe court’s opinion ifOrrington v. Scion Dental, Inc.
Case No. 1GV-00884, 2017 WL 5569741 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 20, 2017), is instructive on this point.
In that case, r@othercourt within this district dismissed a trespass to elsattlaim where
plaintiff alleged thathedefendant’s unsolicited faxadinterfered with plaintiff's use of its fax
machine.ld. at *8. The court noted;[a]s an initial mattef’ that plaintiff's “conclusory

allegation that it ‘suffered damages’ was “insufficient” because plaintiff hatldlleged ‘that

its fax machine was harmed in any way or the machine’s quality, condition, or valineted

as a result of receiving this fax.Td. (citing Able Home Health, LLC v. Onsite Healthcare, Inc.,
S.C, Case No. 16v-8219, 2017 WL 2152429, at *7 (N.D. Ill. May 17, 2QL.7The court

continued that even if it “assumed the existence of some damages ‘fleeting interference’
caused by the transmission of an unsolicited fax” would fail undeteh@nimisdoctrine.

Orrington, 2017 WL 5569741, at *8. According to the court, “any purported damage here would

be nothing ‘more than a few pennies;™” and thus, plaintiff's allegations couldippbd a

trespass to chattels claind. (citing Able Home 2017 WL 2152429, at *7).
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The deficiencies in Glen Ellyn’'s FAC are similar to those highlightealve. Like the
plaintiff in Orrington, Glen Ellyn asserts, in support of itespass to chattettaim, that Akron’s

unsolicited faxes interfered with Akron and fellow class members’ “use of thgirngce
equipment” and that Glen Ellyn “and each class member suffered damages as a reseilptof r
of the unsolicited faxes.(FAC 1179, 81.) These allegatins, like those i®©rrington, are
conclusory and insufficient. As @rrington, Glen Ellyn hasnot alleged ‘that its fax machine
was harmed in any way or the machine’s quality, condition, or value diminished at afres
receiving this fax.” Orrington, 2017 WL 5569741, at *&iting Able Home2017 WL 2152429,
at * 7). Even if we were to assume the existence of damatfes;fleeting interference’ caused
by the transmission of an unsolicited fax” would fail underdé@eninimisdoctrine. Orrington,
2017 WL 5569741, at *8.

Accordingly, thede minimisdoctrine barsslen Ellyn’s trespass to chatelaim.

IIl.  Conversion

The parties raise similar argumerggarding Glen Ellyn’s claim for conversioio
bring a claim for conversiomdler lllinois law, a plainff must allege: “(1) he has a right to the
property; (2) he has an absolute and unconditional right to the immediate posstgson
property; (3) he made a demand for possession; and (4) the defendant wrongfulihaat w
authorization assumed conrol, dominion, or ownership over the propéityihcione v.
Johnson703 N.E. 2d 67, 70 (lll. 199%internal citation omitted) The differencéetween the
torts of conversion and trespass to chattels is “a matter of degfesstl v. IH2 Prop. lllinois,
L.P., 157 F. Supp. 3d 797, 803 (N.D. Ill. 2016).

Akron argus that Glen Ellyn’s claim for conversion warrants dismibsahuse: (1) Glen

Ellyn has not alleged that it made a demand for control, and (&ethenimisdoctrinebars
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Glen Ellyn’ claim (MTD at 8.) Glen Ellyn counters that: (1) it did not need to make a demand
for control because the unsolicited fax was unlawful in itself under 720 ILCS35&d (2) the

de minimisdoctrine does not apply because lllinois courts have recognize@ thiace of paper
may be convertetland nominal damages may be award@lpp. at 4-5.)

Glen Ellyncorrectly states that iteed not have made a demand for control in order to
maintainits claim for conversion Courts in this district have repeatedly concluded that a
demandor control ofconvertecchattelneed not be made where the demand would be futile.
See, e.gAbleHome 2017 WL 2152429, at *8Brodsky v. HumanaDental Ins. Cdlo. 10-C-

3233, 2011 WL 529302, at *6 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 8, 2011). A demand would be futile if the
defendant has so altered the plaintiff's property that it could not be returned inltenaahstate.
AbleHome 2017 WL 2152429, at *@nternal citations omitted)Such is the case here. Once
Glen Ellyn’s toner, ink, and paper had been used to print Akron’s fax advertisement, there woul
be no way for Akron to return those itemds3ten Ellyn in their original stateThus, there would

be no point to demanding control of those iterias.

Akron’s second argument concerning tieeminimisdoctrineis more persuasiveAs
other courts in thiglistrict have observed,“aonversion claim that is otherwise adequately pled
must fail ifthe conversion resulted in damages that areusdule to the point of nonexistent.”
Kloudscript 2019 WL 6467319, at *3 (quotirgrandt v. Bd. of Educ. of City of Chil80 F.3d
460, 465 (h Cir. 2007)). Courts may awarnominal damages for intentionally tortious
conduct, but “a conversion claim is not actionable if the damages are ‘negligibléhizanset
of the lawsuit.” Kloudscript 2019 WL 6467319, at *3 (quotirgavanna Group, Inc. v. Truan

No. 10 C 7995, 2011 WL 703622, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 22, 2011).
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Most courts in this districtonsidering conversion claims in junk fax cadissniss those
claimspursuant to thele minimisdoctrine See, e.gKloudscript 2019 WL 6467319, at *4
(Leinenweber, J.[dismissing aonversiorclaim where plaintiff's damages amoadto “a few
pennies per page of unsolicited fax receive@trington, 2017 WL 556974 1at *7-8 (St. Eve,
J.) (concluding that “any damages from the ink, toner, and paper used in connection with a
single, one-page fax ade minimisand do not support a conversion clain®ble Home 2017
WL 2152429, at * gDow Jr., JYdismissing a conversion claisnce“[a]Jny damages from the
ink, toner and paper in connection with [a] tpage fax are plainlge minimig) ; G.M. Sign,
Inc. v. EIm Street Chiropractic, LTP871 F. Supp. 2d 763, 768—69 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 15, 2012)
(Kendal, J.) (agreeing that the “loss of a single sheet of paper and a few drops of ink is of
insufficient gravity to elicit nominal damages” and maintain a claim for convgr<samrett v.
Rangle Dental LaboratoryNo. 10 C 1315, 2010 WL 303470&,*1 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 3, 2010)
(Bucklo, J.) writing that plaintiff's “conversion claim also fails because the allegedisats
minimisand can be remedied by his TCPA clainfPaldo Signand Display Co. v. Topsail
Sportswear, Ing.No. 08 C 5959, 2010 WL 27670dt,*3 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 15, 2010) (Andersen, J.)
(dismissing a conversion claim where “the most [plaintiff could] hope to gamdrtavorable
judgment ..[was] a few pennies’)

The same result is appropriate hefay damages th&len Ellynsuffered fromthe
receipt of one, singlpage fax‘are miruscule to the point of nonexistentBrandt 480 F.3dat
465. As other courts have observedihie most’ that a plaintiff like Glen Ellyn ‘can hope to
gain from a favorable judgment’driheir conversion claim“is a few pennies. This fact was
true the moment the fax was print@shd has not changed since that point in tim@ble Home

2017 WL 2152429, at *6 (quotir@aldo Sign 2010 WL 276701, at *3).

10
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Cases cited by Glen Ellyio the contrary, for the proposition that conversion actions can
be maintained fothe conversion of papeareall outdated, inapposite, or some combination of
both. See, e.g., Olds v. Chi. Open Bd. of Tt&&®:IIl. App. 445 (%t Dist. Ill. App. Ct.1889)
(131yearold opinion considering an action for conversion of a certificate of membership in a
board of trade, which had value by virtue of the right represented by the certificgposed to
the piece of paper itselfigrewster v. Variew, 8 N.E. 8421(l. 1886) (134yearold opinion
concerningheconversion of a stock certificat@hich derived its valuefrom the righs it
conveyed as opposed to the paper itselfnyroff v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. GaB N.Y.3d 283
(N.Y. 2007) caseanswering the question of whether a claim for conversion of electronic data is
cognizable under New York, not Illinoigw). Many of these cases do not stand for the
proposition that a conversion action can be maintained for the mere conversion ofd piece
paper; but rather, that a conversion action can be mainti@intte conversion o& piece of
paper containing valuable informatioBee, e.glllinois Minerals Co v. McCarty 48 N.E. 2d
424 (4th Dist. lll. App. Ct. 1943) (paper containing customer list and other proprietary
information) Olds 33 Ill. App. 445 (paper grantirtgading right$; Brewster 8 N.E. 842 (paper
proving stock ownership)Such is not the case here.

The remaining cases appear to conflate theequsmf nominal ande minimisdamages
Nominal damages maybe awarded where “interference is severe enough” to warramsgamag
“even if actual damagese absent Old Town Pizza of Lombard, Inc. v. Coffasty Gyro’s
Inc., No. 11ev-6959, 2012 WL 638765, at * 3 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 23, 2012). Such might be the case
if a stock certificate, jewelry, or other valuable item were convertethandeturned to a
plaintiff while litigation was pendingSee Stonecrafters, Inc. v. Foxfire Printing & Packaging,

Inc., 633 F. Supp. 2d 610, 614-15 (N.D. Ill. July 8, 2008hen the items were missing, the

11
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damages were potentially significamthen they were returned, tbaly damages that could be
obtained were nominald. Ourcase is differentln our case, there is no reason to believe that
Glen Ellyn’s damages are, have been, or ever will be signifieratuse the case only pertains to
a single unwanted, oragefax worth no more than a “few pennies” at beseePaldo Sign
2010 WL 276701, at *3.

Accordingly, Glen Ellyn’s claim for conversiaga barred by thele minimisdoctrine and
is dismissed.

V. [llinois Consumer Fraud Act

Akron alsocontends that Glen Ellyn’s claim under the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act, 815
ILCS 505/2,(“ICFA”") merits dismissal The ICFA bars

[u]nfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or
practices, including but not limited to the use or employment of any
deception fraud, false pretense, false promise, misrepresentation or
the concealment, suppression or omission of any matacialwith

intent that others rely upon the concealment, suppression or
omission of each material fact. . . .

815 ILCS 505/2, § 2ThelCFA “is to be liberally construed to effectuate its purpose.”
Robinson v. Toyota Motor Credit Coy75 N.E.2d 951, 960 (lll. 2002). According to Akron,
Glen Ellyn’s FAC “does not allege any deception, fraud, misrepresentations, oratibealale
offenses specified by the Fraud Act,” much less meet the heightened pleadingistequaiaed

for fraud claims.(MTD at 9-10.)?

1 Akron also argues th&len Ellyn’s citation to lllinois criminastatute, 720 ILCS 5/28¢b), is
inapposite because Akron has not been charged with, or convicttyafiime in lllinois.
(MTD at 9.) We assume that Glen Ellyn cites to the Illinois criminal statute to hitéste
argument that Akron’s conduct was “aif” See Brodsky2011 WL 529302, at *9 (noting that
courts applying théCFA “frequently accept that the transmission of [unsolicited fax
advertisements], which could constitute violations of both the TCPA and thés|iGnioninal
Code,see720 ILCS 5/26-3(b), does offend public policy”) (internal citations omittéd).
discussed in greater detail below, the first element of the test for determimitiger conduct is
“unfair” under the ICFA is whether it violates public policy. The fact that coindibarred by

12
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Glen Ellyn responds that the heightened pleading standard is not apgliesblecause
it hasalleged that Akron committed an unfair, as opposed to deceptaaticeunder thdCFA.
(Opp. at 7.) Glen Ellyn is corremgarding thepplicablepleadingstandard The Seventh
Circuit has concluded that plaintiffs challenging unfair practices uhéé€FA need not meet a
heightened pleading standar8ee Windy City Metal Fabricators & Supply, Inc. v. CIT Tech.
Fin. Servs.536 F.3d 663, 670 (7th Cir. 2008). The question becomes whether Glen Ellyn has
adequately alleged that Akron engaged in an unfair practice under the normalgptaddard.

To ascertain whether a defendant’s actions constitute an unfair practicehai@A,
lllinois courts consider whether the following factors are present: “(1) wheth@ralctice
offends public policy; (2) whether it is immoral, unethical, oppressive, oruymsious; [and] (3)
whether it causes substantial injury to consumeRnbinson 775 N.E.2cat 960. The alleged
practice need not satisfy all three factors to be unfair; “an act may constitutéaarpractice
based on the degree to which it meets one or more of the fadkdositscript 2019 WL
6467319at *4.

There is widespread agreement that the practice of semdsugjcited fax advertisements
to unwilling recipients offends public policysee, e.gid. at *5 (Leinenweber, J.) (observing
that“courts applyinghe ICFA largely agree that sending unsolititax advertisements offends
public policy”); Able Home2017 WL 215242%t *4 (Dow, Jr., J.Jsame) Mussat, M.D., S.C.,
v. Power Liens, LLCNo. 13ev-7853, 2014 WL 3610991, at *3 (N.D. Ill. July 21, 2014)
(Coleman, J.Jsame)Brodsky 2011 WL 529302at *9 (Holderman, J.) (same)Thus, the

practice challenged hesatisfies the firsRobinsorfactor.

statute or code can be used to demonstrate that it violates public pdlicdccordingly, we
will consider Glen Ellyn’s citation to the lllinois Criminal Code as part of our analysis o
whether Akron’s conduct is unfair under the ICFA.

13
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With regard to the secorRbbinsorfactor, there is far less agreemeBSbme courts
within this district have concluded that the practice of sending unsolicitedifaextisements
satisfies the secori@obinsorfactor, while others have notCompareR. Rudnick & Co. v. G.F.
Protection, Inc, No. 08 C 1856, 2009 WL 112380, at *2 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 15, 2009) (Gottschall, J.)
(concludingthat unsolicited fax advertisements ampressivewith Stonecrafters633 F. Supp.
2dat616-17 (Kapala, J.)finding that unsolicited fax advertisements are neither immoral,
unethical, oppresive, nor unscrupulouBpr example, ilR. Rudnickthe court observed that
sending unsolicited fax advertisements was oppressive “as the term is aodiersier the
ICFA” because “[t]he recipients of unsolicited faxes have no way of prevehgirgeception
before the fax is received, short of disconnecting their fax machine from the pr@mnélbr do
they have a remedy at hand after the fax is receivRdRudnick2009 WL 112380, at *2. By
contrast, irStonecraftersthe court agreed that the sending of unsolicited fax advertisements
deprives casumers of meaningful choice, but still concluded that the practice waisnmootal,
unethical, oppressive, [or] unscrupulous,” as those terms are ordinarily understood.
Stonecrafters633 F. Supp. 2dt616-17. The court explained:

The improper use afne piece of paper, a small amount of toner,
and a few seconds of an employee’s time is not oppressive conduct,
nor does it fit within the definitions of any of the other terms.
Rather, sending an unsolicited fax is more akin to taking someone
else’s perand notebook without their permission and writing some
notes on one sheet of paper. Even though the owner of the supplies
did not have a choice in the matter, and even though the improper
use depletes a small amount of ink and one piece of notebook paper

this court would be hard pressed to conclude that this conduct is
immoral, unethical, oppressive, or unscrupulous.

However, the growing consensashat sending unsolicited fax advertisensaatneither

immoral, unethical, oppressive, nor unscrupuldsse, e.g., A Custom Heating & Air
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Conditioning, Inc.v. Kabbage, IndNo. 16 C 2513, 2017 WL 26194akt*6 (N.D. Ill. June 16,
2017) (Leinenweber, J.@rrington, 2017 WL5569741, at *6 (St. Eve, JAble Home2017 WL
2152429, at 5 (Dow Jr., J)Mussat 2014 WL 3610991, at *@oleman, J;)G.M. Sign 871 F.
Supp. at 769-70 (Kendall, J.).

For the reasons set foritihthose caseshe conducttassuehere does not satisfy the
secondrobinsorfactor. “[S]ending an unsolicited fax advertisement deprives consumers of a
meaningful choice because they cannot avoid such faxes without turning off theadaies.”
Stonecrafters633 F. Supp. 2d at 61{ernal quotations and citations ommitted the same
time, sending one, singlpage fax advertisemetd each of fortyor morerecipients, as alleged
here,is not“immoral, unethical, oppressive, or unscrupulous,” as those terms are commonly
understood.Seedl. at616-17.

The thirdRobinsorfactor, like the secondhas receivedaryingtreatment.“A practice
causes substantial injury to consumers if it cagggsficantharm to the plaintiff and has the
potential to cause injury to a large number of consumé&mhecrafters633 F. Supp. 2d at 617
(internal citations and quotations omitted).

Although ®me courts conclude that this factor has beenimeank fax casesothers do
not. CompareCenterline Equip. Corp. v. Banner Personnel Serv., B&5 F. Supp. 2d 768,
781 (N.D. lll. Mar. 3, 2008) (concluding that the thRdbinsorfactor had been methere
plaintiff alleged that defendant had sent “masmltast[s] of faxes, and fd sent such faxes to
at least forty people in Illinois”) (internal quotation and citaomtted)with A Custom Heating
2017 WL 261944, at *6 (concluding that the thirdbinsorfactor had not been metere

defendant had sent a epage fax to faintiff).
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However, here, too, there is a growing consensus that sending unsolicited faxes does not

satisfy the thirdRobinsorfactor. See, e.gKloudscript 2019 WL 6467319, at *8rrington,
2017 WL 5569741, at *6Able Home2017 WL 2152429at * 5 Mussaf 2014WL 3610991, at
*3. Courts considering this questitypically analyzepotential damages on both a plaintiff and
classwide basis since this factor requires courtsualuate botlarm to the named plaintiff and
potential harm to a class of consumesge, e.gA CustonHeating 2017 WL 2619144, at *6
G.M. Sign 871 F. Supp. 2d at 770 Neverthelessdamages ijunk fax casesften cannot
satisfy this factar See, e.g., Kloudscrip?2019 WL 6467319, at *5; £ustomHeating 2017
WL 2619144, at *6. As the court explaineddbleHome

Assuming a loss of 2 cents per page for each unauthoripade

fax, the class would have to consist of 2,5000 pebpfere the

alleged harm plausibly reaches even $16f&re, Plaintiff alleges

“on information and belief that there are more than 40 members of

the class™or an aggregate harm of $1.60. By any standard, that is
not a “substantial injury.”

Able Home 2017 WL 2152429, at * 5 (internal citations and quotatmngted). Here because
Glen Ellyn has alleged that a class of 40 people receivedpag®efax, the potential damages
may be even leghan inAble (FAC T 9, 18) Regardlessf the precise calculatigmothing in
Glen Ellyn’s FAC suggests that Akronisisolicited faxes caudésusbtantial injury.” See Able
Home 2017 WL 2152429, at * 5. Accordingly, the allegations in Glen Ellyn’s FAC do not
satis¥ the thirdRobinsorfactor.
Sincethe allegations iGlen Ellyn’sFAC do not satisfywo of the thredrobinson

factors Glen Ellyn has not propsgrhlleged an unfair practice, and Glen Ellyn’s ICFA claim is

dismissed.

16



Case: 1:20-cv-02177 Document #: 25 Filed: 11/16/20 Page 17 of 20 PagelD #:180

V. New York General BusinessLaw Claim

Finally, we turn to Glen Ellyn’s claim under New York General Business Law, $i896-
which makes it unlawful to send unsolicited factvertisements under certain circumstaraces
without opt-out provisions.

Akron asserts thaBlen Ellyncannot maintain this claim because it is a species of forum
shopping; Glen Ellyn chose to bring its claims in Illinois and brought a number osaleider
lllinois law. (MTD at 16-11.) According to Akron, Glen Ellyn should not be able to
simultaneously bring a claim under New York law as wétl.) In response, Glen Ellyn argues
that both New York and lllinois have an interest in prohibiting Akron’s conduct thusGlen
Ellyn shoud be allowed to pursue claims under both states’.|gWwAC at 1213.) We construe
this dispute as concerning choice of law.

“Federal courts hearing state law claims under diversity or supplementaiciiimisd
apply the forum state’s choice of law rules to select the applicable statergiue law.”

McCoyv. Iberdrola Renewables, In@.60 F.3d 674, 68&th Cir. 2014)internal citations

omitted) Since this court sits in lllinois, we will apply lllinois’s choice of law rulégnder

lllinois choiceof-law rules, a conflict of law exists only where the application of one state’s law
over that of another state will make ifetence in the outcome of a case, and where there is no
conflict in the relevant state law, a court will apply lllinois lavPerdue v. HyWee, Inc. 455 F.
Supp. 3d 749, 758 (C.D. Ill. Apr. 20, 202 térnal citations omitted

lllinois courts use the “most significant relationship” approach of the Restatement
(Second) of Conflicts of Lawo resolve choice of law questiongsser v. Mcintyre661 N.E. 2d
1138, 11411{l. 1996). In applying this testpartsconsiderfour factors:“(1) where the injury
occurred; (2) where the injuigausing conduct occurred; (3) the domicile of the parties; and (4)

where the relationship of the parties is centeréd.”“Generally, the law of the place of injury
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controls unless some other juristibn has a more significant relationship with the occurrence
and with the parties.’Perdue 455 F. Supp. 3d at 759 (citiliggser 661 N.E. 2d at 1141).

Neither party addresdeghesdactors in its briefing However, given that the alleged
injury occurred in lllinois, and Glen Ellyn has not argued that New York has a morecsighif
relationship with the conduct at issue and the paittigs lllinois, Illinois state law should
govern these claims.

lllinois does not have a law that is precisely analogoldet® York General Business
Law §396-aa but lllinois does have ICFA and common law tort actions, waicdompass
similar subject matter Additionally, the Supreme Court haseld that the' Full Faith and Credit
Clause does not compebtate to substitute the statutes of otktates for its own statutes
dealing with a subject matter concerning which it is competent to legisl&teaiichise Tax Bd.
of Cal v. Hyatt 538 U.S. 488, 494 (20Dp8yuotingSun Oil Co. v. Wortmam86 U.S. 717, 722
(1988) (internal citations and quotations omitjed)he State of lllinois is “competent to
legislate” with respect to the conduct at issue here, which Glen Ellyn claimsdrmjiizens of
lllinois. The fact that lllinois has chosen not to enact a law analogous to New YorkaGener
Business Lavg 3964aa is significant.See Franchise Tax Bcb38 U.S. at 494-99WVe will defer
to lllinois’s judgment andvill not allow Glen Ellyn to pursue its New Yo@eneral Business
Law § 396-aa claim here.

Most of the authorityhat Glen Ellyn cites isupport ofits positionthatit should be able
to pursue claims under multiple states’ las@ssists obut-of-circuit casesoncerning the

application ofblue ky laws? SeeFed Housing FinAgency vNomura Holding Am., Inc873

2 The remaining case that Glen Ellyn citeSotemoff v. Stat®05 P.2d 954 (Alas. 1995)arises
from a stag prosecution for hunting with the aid of an artificial light, where a hunter was in
navigable waters when he shot and killed a deer on federallidnat 957. There are a few
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F.3d 85, 100, 156 (2d Cir. 201 ADIC v. Countrywide Fin. Corp2:11ML-02265, 2012 U.S.

Dist. LEXIS 194330, *9 and n.3 (C.D. Cal., June 15, 20B2jnebey v. E. F. Hutton & Co715

F. Supp. 1512, 1534-36 (M.D. Fla. 1989ntz v. Carey Manor Ltd613 F. Supp. 543, 550-51
(W.D. Va. 1985).In that line ofcasescourts typically abandon choice-af# principles in favor

of a “territorial nexus” approacthSee, e.g., Barnebeyl5 F. Supp. at 1534-36intz, 613 F.

Supp. at 550-51. Applying this approach, plaintiffs may pursue causes of action under multiple
states’ blue sky laws so long as they can demonstrate a sufficient nexus betwedrethanoh

the state law pleadedd. Glen Ellyn does not explain why these princighsuld be etended
beyond securities law, except to say that both New York and lllinois have antiirieres

preventing the sending of unsolicited fax advertisements. (Opp. at 13.)

At least one other court within this circuit has declined to extendlibeereferenced
securities lawprinciplesto otherareas of law SeeHartman v. Meridian Fin. Serviceblos. 01-
C-60-C, 01-C-61¢, 01-C-88€, 01-C-104-C, 01-C-254-C, 01-C-415-C, 01-C-416-C, 01-C-424-
C, 2001 WL 1823617, at *3 (W. D. Wis. Aug. 28, 20Qdgclining to adopt the territorial nexus
approach for a debt collection cas#ye likewise decline to do so her&len Ellyn’'sNew York
General Business Law claiis dismissed

CONCLUSION
For the aforementioned reasgnskron’s motion to dismiss is deniedth regard to Glen

Ellyn’s TCPA claim and graetwith regard to Glen Ellyn’state law claims.

problems with this citation. First, it concerns the application of crimiattier than civil, law.
Second, ie opinion focuses on whether federal law preempts stat@nidwhether the state had
jurisdiction over the crime-not whether a courtam simultaneously apply two states’ laws to the
conduct at issueld. at 958—-68.Third, the specific provision cited by Glen Ellyn, and the cases
cited thereinaddress the question of whether multiple states can assert jurisdiction ovee,a cri
notwhether multiple statésaws can simultaneously be appliedhe same crimeld. at 961—

62. Finally, Totemoffwasissued byacourt outside of this circuit and it binding here.
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v . Aapen

Honorable Marvin €. Aspen
United States District Judge

Dated:November 16, 2020
Chicago, lllinois
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